Habitat III Policy Unit 4

Urban Governance, Capacity and Institutional Development

Policy Paper

29 February 2016

Experts

Quazi Baby, Bangladesh Augusto Barrera, Ecuador Ilaria Boniburini, Italy Flemming Borreskov, Denmark Aliye Celik, Turkey/USA Teo Chee Hai, Malaysia Doaa El-Sherif, Egypt Pablo Cesar Fuentes, Chile Martin Grisel, The Netherlands Corinne Hermant-de Callataÿ, Belgium Peter Herrle, Germany Alcinda Honwana, Mozambique Irina Ilina, Russia Soo-Jin Kim, France Taibat Lawanson, Nigeria Pascal Moloi, South Africa Juan Felipe Pinilla, Colombia Wicaksono Sarosa, Indonesia Relinda Sosa, Peru Luis Aguilar Villanueva, Mexico

Co-Leading Organisations

LSE Cities, London School of Economics and Political Science Philipp Rode Catarina Heeckt Nuno Ferreira da Cruz Harry Blain

United Cities and Local Governments (UCLG)/Global Task Force (GTF) Emilia Sáiz Edgardo Bilsky Nestor Vega Ricardo Martínez

Table of Contents

Executive summary3				
1 Vision and framework of the Policy Paper's contribution to the New Urban Agenda				
	1.1	Towards a new urban governance	5	
	1.2	Goals of a new urban governance	6	
	1.3	Characteristics of a new urban governance	6	
2	Poli	cy challenges	7	
	2.1	The increasing complexity of urban governance	7	
	2.2	Absent or inadequate decentralisation	8	
	2.3	Ineffective legal and institutional frameworks	8	
	2.4	The metropolitan challenge	9	
	2.5	Inequality and exclusion	9	
	2.6	Weak frameworks for service delivery partnerships	9	
	2.7	Insufficient monitoring and evaluation of urban policies		
	2.8	Rapid technological change	10	
3	Pric	ritising policy options – transformative actions for the New Urban Agenda		
	3.1	Create strong multi-level governance frameworks		
	3.2	Strengthen decentralisation processes		
	3.3	Promote integrated national urban and territorial policies		
	3.4	Reinforce metropolitan governance		
	3.5	Promote a new culture of participation and equity		
	3.6	Strengthen capacity-building for urban governance		
	3.7	Enable digital era governance		
	017			
4	Key	actors for actions – enabling institutions	15	
	4.1	Local governments		
	4.2	National governments	17	
	4.3	Judiciary and legislative branches		
	4.4	Supranational governments and intergovernmental cooperation		
	4.5	Civil society		
	4.6	Education and knowledge institutions		
	4.7	Private sector		
	4.8	Financial institutions and international development agencies	-	
5	Poli	cy design, implementation and monitoring	20	
	5.1	Create strong multi-level governance frameworks	20	
	5.2	Strengthen decentralisation processes	21	
	5.3	Promote integrated national urban and territorial policies	21	
	5.4	Reinforce metropolitan governance	22	
	5.5	Promote a new culture of participation and equity	23	
	5.6	Strengthen capacity building for urban governance		
	5.7	Monitoring and data		
C	Conclusion			
	Endnotes			
Bi	iblíogra	ıphy	30	

Executive summary

Since the Habitat II Conference in 1996, the wider context of urban development has changed considerably and many urban challenges have become more pronounced and evident. The globalisation of economies and value systems, population growth and rapid urbanisation, the threat of climate change and environmental degradation, increasing inequalities, global migration, global health risks and the impact of new technologies have all been reshaping the challenges facing the governance of cities and their societies. This Habitat III policy paper focusses on urban governance, capacity and institutional development and identifies the following ten key messages based on aspirations for the *right to the city*, sustainable and equitable development and territorial equity:

- 1. By and large, urban governance frameworks and institutions in most countries need to evolve to face critical challenges: urban governance systems in most countries are currently not fit for purpose and need critical reforms to enable sustainable urban development. These reforms will have to go beyond sectoral policies and consider cooperation between different spheres of government and non-state actors, fostering a balanced distribution of powers, capacities and resources including the revision of legislative, regulatory and fiscal frameworks.
- 2. In many countries, existing institutional frameworks prevent urban governments fully delivering on their responsibilities: inadequate decentralisation, lack of resources, insufficient capacity and poor frameworks for engagement with civil society and key stakeholders weaken urban governance. Many countries suffer from ill-defined distributions of responsibilities between different levels of governments, leading to the duplication of roles and blind spots. Such ineffective multi-level governance systems compromise planning processes, risk backlogs in budget spending, incur higher transaction costs and create wider economic inefficiencies, as well as compromising transparency and accountability.
- 3. Cities and urban societies continue to suffer from an imbalance of political power and insufficient inclusiveness and participation: collective decision making has so far failed to address the gap between broader, typically national developmental agendas and inhabitants' needs on the ground. While representative democracy is an important vehicle to allow citizens to exercise their rights, more participatory processes suffer from structural constraints. Women, youth, ethnic minorities, the urban poor and other disadvantaged groups such as people with disabilities are still side-lined in decision-making processes. Inequalities, insufficient access to basic services, lack of decent housing, job insecurity and informality are shaping spatially fragmented and socially segmented cities. The demands of inhabitants need more participatory spaces to avoid increasing social tensions and discontent with political systems.
- 4. The expansion of metropolitan areas and the growing gap between these and intermediary cities pose additional challenges to urban and national governance: the growth of large metropolitan areas e.g. metropolises, megacities, urban regions and corridors is reshaping the urban landscape, raising new challenges for the management of metropolitan areas. Weak metropolitan governance undermines development potentialities and the attractiveness of metropolitan areas as cornerstones of national development. At the same time, the lack or the inadequacy of policies for intermediary cities, particularly in developing countries (who will host most of the urban growth in the coming years), prevents the creation of a strong system of cities and a balanced regional socio-economic development
- 5. Above all, new urban governance should be democratic, inclusive, multi-scale and multi-level: effective multi-level governance needs to be the result of a broad consultative process, built around mechanisms for vertical and horizontal integration. Vertical integration involves collaboration between national, regional and local government (and ultimately supranational institutions). Horizontal integration involves collaboration between sectoral ministries and departments, municipalities and public institutions at the same governance level. In addition,

and recognising urban complexity, diversity and local context, multi-level governance should include collaboration between governmental and non-governmental actors, above all civil society actors and the private sector. Integration at all levels will increasingly benefit from digitalisation and be facilitated by a shift towards digital era governance.

- 6. New urban governance requires robust national urban and territorial policies: national urban governance frameworks need to enable effective multi-level governance through clear legal and institutional structures, based on the principles of subsidiarity and decentralisation (respect for local self-government, clear sharing of powers and responsibilities etc.), an adequate intergovernmental allocation of financial resources, and empowerment of citizens. Ensuring a better allocation of national resources to sub-national governments needs to be coupled with equalisation mechanisms to reduce inequalities between regions, metropolitan areas and intermediary cities, with the aim of building synergies and complementarities between cities and territories.
- 7. Local and sub-national governments anchor new urban governance on the ground and play a pivotal role in implementing the New Urban Agenda: strong and capable local governments are the key levers to ensure inclusive and sustainable urban development, with accountable urban governance systems and balanced multi-stakeholder involvement. The models of urban governance for the 21st century need empowered local governments employing professional staff. Inter-municipal cooperation, including between urban and rural municipalities, should be facilitated through adequate incentives to create economies of scale and integration. Decentralisation on the one hand empowers and on the other hand obliges. Increased responsibilities and duties to local governments demand openness and transparency but also accountability and responsibility.
- 8. Strong metropolitan governance is a key component of new urban governance: national governments should enable metropolitan governance, ensuring the involvement of both local and regional governments in the reform process. As there is no one-size-fits-all solution, different models could be established within the same country in order to respond to the specific needs of different metropolitan regions. Most importantly, providing metropolitan regions with authority over critical metropolitan concerns (which may be context specific while tending to have a strong focus on spatial governance) requires democratic legitimacy, legal frameworks and reliable financing mechanisms for metropolitan governance.
- 9. A buoyant and participative civil society involves clear recognition of citizens' rights: formal participation procedures should be complemented by collaborative partnerships which go beyond consultation of policies/interventions, recognising civil society groups as active 'partners' in new urban governance. Innovative and effective participation tools should be adopted to foster meaningful engagement and emancipation of all inhabitants, bringing social justice, liveability and democratic governance to the process of urban transformation. Alongside an active participatory democracy, transparency and accountability are the key pillars for new urban governance.
- 10. **Capacity building for urban governance needs to be accelerated:** improving differentiated capacities linked to urban governance needs to take into account institutional capacities, the technical and professional skills of individuals as well as local leadership skills. Building capacities related to urban planning, budgeting, public asset management, digital era governance, data gathering and engaging with other stakeholders are of particular urgency. Capacity building actions need to go beyond conventional training and stimulate learning in the short, medium and long-term.

1 Vision and framework of the Policy Paper's contribution to the New Urban Agenda

Successful implementation of the New Urban Agenda will depend on appropriate, democratic, efficient and inclusive urban governance and institutional frameworks. The New Urban Agenda should build on the legitimacy of the Istanbul Declaration, in which Member States recognised that local authorities are key partners in urban governance, as well as acknowledging the role of civil society and the private sector.^a At the same time, the New Urban Agenda should be closely linked to the 2030 Agenda¹, the Paris Agreement on Climate Change² and the Addis Ababa Agenda on Financing for Development³. Urban governance will need to undergo a deep transformation to achieve these global agendas, all of which converge in our cities and territories.

1.1 Towards a new urban governance^b

Urban governance consists of a set of institutions, guidelines, regulatory and management mechanisms in which local governments^c are key, but not exclusive, components.

Our cities and their surroundings require a new urban governance based on open-decision-making, with the active participation of local stakeholders and with the aim of defining the best policies for the common good. In terms of political process, its implementation should combine **representative democracy**, based on the regular election of local authorities, and **participatory democracy**, ensuring the involvement of all at the local level.

This requires an **effective system of multi-level governance**,^d with well-defined spheres of government (national, regional and local) based on appropriate decentralisation policies that aim to construct a balanced and collaborative system of well-managed cities and improved urban-rural linkages so that no city or territory is left behind.⁴

^a The Habitat Agenda- Istanbul Declaration on Human Settlements, paragraph 12 recognises "local authorities as our closest partners, and as essential, in the implementation of the Habitat Agenda". The full text of the Habitat Agenda also pointed out that it is "they, local authorities and other interested parties, who are on the front line in achieving the goals of Habitat II." (paragraph 56)

^b "Governance refers to the process whereby elements in society wield power and authority, and influence and enact policies and decisions concerning public life, and economic and social development. Governance is a broader notion than government. Governance involves interaction between these formal institutions and those of civil society." (The Governance Working Group of the International Institute of Administrative Sciences 1996)

^c In this document, the term "local governments" refers to all subnational governments except those of the highest tier in federal countries (state, provinces, Lander), with some exceptions. For example, when federal governments have the city governance responsibility (e.g. Berlin, Brussels, Mexico City, Buenos Aires, etc.) they are considered local governments. Countries could have different tiers of subnational governments (one, two, three or even more levels). In general, the 1st tier, the level closest to the inhabitants, are city councils, municipalities, communes, Gemeinden, districts, townships, metropolitan districts, etc. Some countries even have a level below municipalities or city councils (boroughs, arrondissements, parroquias). The United States, for example, also has special districts with specific responsibilities and powers (e.g. schools districts). The 2nd tier is designated in general as counties (e.g. UK); departments (e.g. in France or Colombia), provinces (e.g. Spain); (Landkreise in Germany, or Rayons in Russia). The 3rd tier consists of regions (e.g. Peru or France). Big urban areas could be managed by one city council (Johannesburg) or by many municipalities (Sao Paulo, New York), by governments merged into the 2nd or 3rd tiers (of Mexico City or Buenos Aires); or governments operating across tiers: Paris is a municipality (1st tier) but also a department (2nd tier); Berlin is a municipality and a Land. The Greater Authority of London is considered a 2nd tier government. Cf. UCLG (2008).

^d The term "multi-level governance" was first used by Marks (1993) to refer to European policy-making. Today, the concept is used in a wider, global context to call for "transformation in the distribution of authority on grounds of efficiency", even within the context of global governance (Stephenson 2013). In this paper, multi-level governance is understood as a "decision-making system to define and implement public policies produced by a collaborative relation either vertical (between different levels of government, including national, federal, regional or local) or horizontal (within the same level, e.g. between ministries or between local governments) or both. It also includes the partnership with actors from civil society and private sector for the achievement of common goals. In order to be effective, multi-level governance should be rooted in the principle of subsidiarity, the respect for local autonomy and establish mechanisms of trust and structured dialogue" (Issue paper on Urban Governance). Cf. Grisel & van de Waart. (2011).

In times of uncertainty and change, informed, flexible, innovative, forward-looking governance, open to continuous learning, is needed to develop intelligent governance. Currently, global public health problems, the impacts of climate change and inequalities are increasing the vulnerability of cities. Many cities are home to youth booms or vulnerable ageing populations and many are experiencing unprecedented migration flows as a consequence of the democratic transition. Profound transformations will be required in the pattern of production and consumption, methods of public participation and involvement of citizens in public policy if all these challenges are to be faced. New urban governance will depend on **capacity-building** for all spheres of government, particularly municipal authorities.

Finally, the **complexities and specificities of the various urban scales** should be recognised. Small towns, intermediary cities and urban agglomerations require complex and multi-sectoral forms of metropolitan governance.

1.2 Goals of a new urban governance

A new urban governance will need to respond to the call for the exercise of the **right to the city** as a strategic approach to combat exclusion. This involves the redistribution of material, social, political and cultural resources, based on the principles of democracy, equality, inclusiveness and recognition of diversity. The *right to the city* nurtures tolerance and peaceful coexistence whilst guaranteeing equal access and protection of common goods, including land use. It also seeks the far-reaching participation of all relevant actors in decision-making.⁵

A new urban governance should also promote **sustainable and equitable development** that prevents the depletion of natural resources and addresses environmental challenges. It should foster a new economy⁶ that values social emancipation and achievements above profit, where work is a means to enhance human dignity and inclusion.

Finally, a new urban governance should facilitate **territorial equity** by linking up cities and rural areas and ensuring access to services for all based on the principle of spatial equality.

1.3 Characteristics of a new urban governance

Democratic and inclusive: this implies guaranteeing the right to participate in the development of cities and their surroundings for all stakeholders, with special attention given to vulnerable groups. It also implies ensuring access to technologies to enhance service provision and participation.

Long-term and integrated: new urban governance should allow for long-term public policies, beyond terms of office. It should also foster comprehensive public policies that involve the whole territory in a systemic and intelligent way.

Multi-scale and multi-level: new urban governance requires coordination between different levels of government^e and sectors of society, so that challenges that arise in cities can be faced efficiently.

Territorial: urban areas are not only the place where the majority of the population lives; they are embedded in territories where the built environment meets the natural environment. In a new urban governance, cities must be seen and understood as a system of relationships between urban and rural areas operating as an urban ecosystem.

^e Note: while the term 'levels of government' is used in this document, it does not imply that any one level of government is superior to another.

Proficient: institutions and individuals should have the necessary skills to implement relevant public policies in a responsive and realistic way.

Conscious of the digital age: new technological developments can assist local authorities in crafting more transparent, accountable, participatory and responsive governance systems. Digital era governance⁷ may also equip citizens and businesses with the ability to push for changes in society in a bottom-up fashion that might lead to a fundamental change in our economies.^f

2 Policy challenges

Since the Habitat II Conference in 1996, the framework conditions for urban development have changed significantly. The globalisation of economies and value systems, population growth and rapid urbanisation, the threat of climate change, increasing inequalities, global migration and the impact of new technologies have all been reshaping the challenges facing the governance of cities and societies.

Over the past few years and in a majority of regions, we have witnessed a trend towards decreasing turnout in national and local elections combined with rising civil society discontent with political systems and public institutions. There have been popular outbreaks in many cities of the world, reflecting growing demands by citizens for more equity and democracy and highlighting the key policy challenges facing future urban governance.^g

2.1 The increasing complexity of urban governance

Due to the increasing complexity of our societies, urban governance is increasingly shaped by multilevel systems and multi-stakeholder interactions.

Current urbanisation trends and urban changes are influencing development dynamics on a global scale, posing unprecedented challenges for urban governance.⁸ An acknowledgment of the increasing complexity of urban systems has led to the recognition that urban governance needs to adopt a more integrated approach in order to respond to current and future challenges.⁹ A new concept of urban governance has to grasp the issue of integrating different levels of government and a wide range of participating actors – formally or informally - in policy formulation and implementation.

Any general agenda for reforming urban governance also needs to acknowledge the challenges associated with the diversity of local conditions and new urban forms, taking both the opportunities that urbanisation offers and its adverse effects into consideration. The co-existence of metropolitan areas, intermediary cities, small towns, rapidly growing cities and shrinking cities calls for a differentiated policy approach. Even though national definitions of threshold size vary widely, urban policy (at the national level) is confronted with the challenging task of having to adapt policies to specific urban characteristics, whilst reducing inequalities between different urban areas and regions (different in terms of poverty, demographic issues, infrastructure, etc.).

^f See Rifkin (2015: 18): "Markets are beginning to give way to networks, ownership is becoming less important than access, the pursuit of self-interest is being tempered by the pull of collaborative interests, and the traditional dream of rags to riches is being supplanted by a new dream of a sustainable quality of life".

^g Some authors diagnose a gap between local development objectives and citizens' needs or even a "crisis in the relationship between the citizens and the state" (Hickey and Mohan 2004: 26)

A balanced and well-managed system of cities calls for strategies that include coherent long-term and cross-sector national urban and regional/territorial^h policies that provide adequate support and coordination within and between different levels of government and ensure the efficient use of resources.

2.2 Absent or inadequate decentralisation

In the past thirty years, more than one hundred countries have created local government systems, with local authorities elected through regular democratic elections in order to anchor democracy at the local level, improve service delivery and respond to local communities' demands.

However, the implementation of these reforms has been varied and complex. In some countries local governments have great autonomy and accountability: they are responsible for the widespread provision of basic services and are able to raise revenues and expenditures which represent a significant share of total government spending (averaging 24% in Europe). However, since the global financial and economic crises, local governments have faced budget constraints and have struggled to renew infrastructures in order to adapt to structural changes (e.g. ageing populations and climate change). In other countries, where basic service provision is still lacking, local governments typically have limited powers and resources and lack professional staff and revenue raising capacities. Their budgets are small in both absolute and relative terms (e.g. less than 10% of central government expenditure in a majority of countries in Sub-Saharan Africa).¹⁰

Ineffective decentralisation processes can result in weak multi-level governance, inadequate planning processes, economic inefficiencies, backlogs in budget spend and higher transaction costs.¹¹

2.3 Ineffective legal and institutional frameworks

In many countries the potential of local governments as key levers of urban governance remains unexploited due to a chronic weakness stemming from an ineffective legal and institutional framework.

Only a limited number of countries have developed and implemented comprehensive and coherent national urban policies in the last ten years.¹² Often, national legal and institutional frameworks are not adequately adapted to the specific contexts of urban areas and the capacity of sub-national governments. There is often a disconnect between legal, administrative and fiscal frames, a lack of clarity in the distribution of responsibilities between different levels of government, and regulations that are frequently contradictory. In addition, these frameworks are often too rigid to react to the rapidly changing situations and dynamics of urbanisation.

Urban planning and land regulation, for example, are critical areas for urban governance.¹³ In many countries current legal and institutional frameworks do not allow national or local governments to respond adequately to the growing speculation in land and housing. The weakening of land use and social housing policies in recent decades has diminished the access of the poor to decent housing, increasing urban social segmentation and the development of slums in developing countries. Informal settlements, insecure tenure and eviction continue to be a critical dimension affecting nearly one billion people globally. This situation will continue and grow over the coming decades unless adequate policies are implemented and local governments are empowered and capacitated to improve land and housing management, ensure the enforcement of land regulations and contribute to integrating informal settlements (and customary land management systems) into the urban planning and management of urban areas.¹⁴

^h In this paper, "territorial" policies or "territorial strategies" refer to the policies related to regional planning. Regional planning address region-wide environmental, social, and economic issues -including efficient placement of land-use activities, infrastructure, and settlement growth-, that will encompass more than one state, province or region.

Inter-municipal cooperation (the development of partnerships and cooperation between neighbouring municipalities), could reduce institutional fragmentation, enhance the synergies of agglomeration economies and foster coherence and coordination within and between municipalities (e.g. for service delivery, planning, etc.). It is well entrenched in Europe and increasingly in other regions, for example in Latin America, but it is not always recognised or facilitated in many other regions. In many countries, legal frameworks and national policies hamper cooperation between neighbouring cities and between cities and their hinterlands, reducing the strength of urban-rural linkages.¹⁵

Good quality laws help build strong institutional frameworks, public accountability and stakeholder involvement in urban and territorial development, strengthening the role of the public sector in regulating urban development and protecting public goods. Ineffective legal frameworks remain a persistent challenge in recognising these goals.

2.4 The metropolitan challenge

More than five hundred cities worldwide have exceeded the threshold of 1 million inhabitants.¹⁶ Many of these have physically grown beyond their administrative boundaries (local and sometimes even national) and their economies have become more globalised, attracting flows of goods, capital and migrants from different regions of the world. Some have expanded to megacities, urban corridors or large urban regions. A metropolitan area can be a single conurbation for which planning and distribution of services is functional, or it can be made up of dozens of municipalities with significant disparities and spatial segregation across neighbourhoods. The lack of coordination at the metropolitan scale may create cost-ineffective solutions, especially in terms of coping with spill-over and externalities challenges.

The number of metropolitan governance authorities has increased considerably since the 1990s. Metropolitan governance arrangements range from soft inter-municipal co-operation to more structured, integrated, sometimes even elected forms of governance. Most metropolitan governance reforms have triggered intense political debates and controversies. However, barriers to further reform efforts exist, including strong local identities and antagonisms, the vested interests of municipalities and residents, opposition from higher levels of government or constraints related to local public finance systems.¹⁷

2.5 Inequality and exclusion

Current urbanisation processes are reinforcing inequality and exclusion – particularly for women, youth, the elderly, minorities and the urban poor. Social imbalances cause friction and in some cases violence and political instability. It is generally acknowledged that the existing challenges cannot be overcome without proper participation and a far-reaching, active involvement of inhabitants. Participatory processes still suffer from structural constraints, with an absence of legislation that recognises civil society organisations, guarantees and promotes participation, and allows access to public information and data to promote informed citizenship organisation. There is also a lack of transparency and accountability in public institutions.

The challenge of advancing a *right to the city* approach – based on the recognition of human rights as a cross-cutting dimension of urban policy– is central to strengthening citizen participation and ensuring more equity in urban societies.¹⁸

2.6 Weak frameworks for service delivery partnerships

With regard to service provision, public partnerships with other actors (private sector, NGOs, community organisations, etc.) can assist with service delivery and other critical aspects of urban development (slums, city expansion, etc.).

However, in many regions the legal frameworks dealing with tendering, contracts and oversight are weak or unimplemented and this lack of clarity discourages domestic and foreign business investment.

At the same time, public-private partnerships (PPP) have proved complex to undertake (e.g. prefeasibility studies, strong technical expertise and negotiation capacities). National and local governments often don't have the information and expertise necessary to negotiate on an equal footing with powerful international companies who have extensive experience in different areas of public services delivery.¹⁹

Public institutions, and particularly local governments, also face the challenge of developing partnerships with communities and the informal sector.

2.7 Insufficient monitoring and evaluation of urban policies

Many sub-national governments currently have no access to localised data and thus do not have the capacity to take informed decisions and better prioritise local policies. The task of monitoring and evaluating the SDGs and the New Urban Agenda will require the compilation of more disaggregated and localised data, with the support of national statistical offices in collaboration with local governments and stakeholders to ensure the follow-up of public policies.

In addition, national governments do not sufficiently promote the involvement of local governments and stakeholders in the definition, implementation and monitoring of urban and regional policies and plans, while civic society stakeholders lack access to independent mechanisms for the monitoring and evaluation of public policies and projects (e.g. observatories, citizens' or communities' report cards).

2.8 Rapid technological change

The digital age has dramatically changed our societies, the way we live, work and play. New technological developments offer unforeseen possibilities for businesses, citizens and public actors. Yet public authorities sometimes find it difficult to respond to these new developments. What should be regulated? What should be left to the market? How best to protect common goods?²⁰

Technological change poses complex and interrelated urban challenges that require city institutions to adapt.²¹ The collection, ownership, use and openness of 'big data' and networked and real-time information have already led to the establishment of new urban governance processes and structures.²² Questions surrounding the use of sensors, algorithms, automation, surveillance, and personal data protection and privacy present a continuing challenge for urban governance into the future.

3 Prioritising policy options – transformative actions for the New Urban Agenda

Creating the enabling conditions for developing policies that lead to a dynamic, sustainable and equitable urban future calls for a balanced distribution of power, enabled by legal and financial instruments that take into account the key principles of subsidiarity and proportionality. New urban governance, which is based on the generally accepted principles of good governance, puts the protection of all inhabitants at the core of urban and rural development: it respects human rights, is transparent and accountable, protects marginalised and vulnerable members of society, and promotes citizen participation, youth empowerment and gender equality.²³ Good governance protects and improves the environment; it aims to improve quality of life, safeguard public health,

and reduce the environmental impact of all human activities whilst striving to achieve economic prosperity and employability.

Legal frameworks addressing overarching issues relating to the New Urban Agenda are essential to enhance the efficiency of institutional frameworks. Member States are advised to revise and/or develop a comprehensive legal system to underpin all facets of urban management, adapted to different urban realities. Good quality laws help to build strong institutional frameworks, public accountability and stakeholder involvement in urban and territorial development, strengthening the role of the public sector in regulating urban development and protecting public goods. Legal frameworks need to be both empowering and flexible in order to help cities meet their new challenges.

More general enabling conditions for the New Urban Agenda include capacity building, participation, and the flexibility to adapt to changing socio-spatial contexts, new policy-specific needs, environmental changes, and the impact of innovative technologies such as the digital revolution.

3.1 Create strong multi-level governance frameworks

Effective multi-level governanceⁱ is the overarching prerequisite for new urban governance and the successful implementation of the New Urban Agenda. Implementing the SDGs is a multi-level challenge.²⁴ Within multi-level governance systems, national governments need to facilitate dialogue and collaboration between different levels of government and public institutions, whilst retaining its sovereign functions. Decentralisation, partnerships and participation have already led to some reduction of hierarchy and more fluidity between the levels. Networks, within and across geographical boundaries and governmental levels have become inter-linked; non-governmental actors such as NGOs, civil society organisations, and the private sector are seen as key partners for governments at all levels.²⁵

A multi-level governance framework, based on regular consultation and partnerships across different levels of government, requires coherent legal frameworks and regulations to avoid overlapping, gaps and the inefficient use of resources. Establishing a clearly defined and reliable financing mechanism is also a critical factor in creating an effective multi-level governance system. For example the EU Urban Agenda, bringing together Member States, the European Commission, local authorities, knowledge institutions and the private sector in thematic partnerships, is an inspiring case of a policy approach based upon shared interests.

To be effective, multi-level governance needs to be based on institutional frameworks that can directly address critical problems and challenges in an integrated way rather than relying on fragment policy sectors.²⁶ This acknowledges that effective integrated governance needs to prioritise the integration of certain geographic scales and sectors over others.²⁷ Integrated governance is congruent with multi-level governance. It needs to consider two dimensions: 1) vertical coordination between municipalities, metropolitan authorities, regional, state/provincial and

ⁱ Since the Brundtland report (World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987) sustainable development has been perceived as a policy that balances social, economic and environmental interests. Balancing these sometimes conflicting interests requires an effective multi-level governance structure that offers an institutional framework for decision-making and implementation. Without such a framework, it will not be possible to "make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable" (SDG11) and to address today's urgent global challenges. This is acknowledged by several UN resolutions and statements. Article 76 of Resolution 66/288 of the General Assembly recognizes that "effective governance at the local, subnational, national, regional and global levels representing the voices and interests of all is critical for advancing sustainable development" and article 79 clearly emphasized the need for an "improved and more effective institutional framework for sustainable development which should be guided by the specific functions required and mandates involved" (Rio+20 Declaration, "The future we want").

national (in some regions, such as the European Union, also supranational) and 2) horizontal coordination between sectoral departments, authorities and governments, as well as non-governmental actors at the same governance level.

Promoting the collaboration between governmental and non-governmental actors (e.g. civil society, the private sector, academia, etc.) requires particular attention.²⁸ Public-private and public-private-popular partnerships require different forms of cooperation or co-production from those between state actors. Civil society organisations and NGOs should be regarded as key partners of governmental actors. With an adequate legal framework and support, local partnerships with local communities and the private sector can be developed to ensure universal access to basic local services, as well as resilient infrastructures to guarantee human rights and dignity, address social and economic inequalities and environmental challenges.

3.2 Strengthen decentralisation processes

City governments, as the level of government closer to urban dwellers, have become increasingly important as a result of decentralisation, networking and globalisation.²⁹ The development of an effective decentralisation process that recognises the importance of all levels of governance and clearly delineates the roles, powers and functions of national and sub-national governments is necessary to establish an effective multi-level governance framework. The multi-level governance approach outlined above should therefore be based on the principles of respect for local self-government and subsidiarity, in order to ensure that sub-national governments take up their full responsibilities in fostering sustainable urban development.³⁰ In many countries, this requires a better sharing of power and resources between national and sub-national institutions/governments.

Effective decentralisation requires adequate resources – both human and financial – to be channelled to local and regional governments, who need to be accountable to their citizens in the fulfilment of their responsibilities. Local authorities should be vested with the necessary powers to mobilise local resources, with the capacity to manage and collect local taxes and fees, set service tariffs, have access to different financing sources, and experiment with innovative financing models.³¹ Within guidelines and rules established by national governments and the legislature, local governments should also be encouraged to access national borrowing and, where possible, international finance.

Local authorities also need to be given autonomy to manage their staff (to decide on hiring, rewarding and firing based on merit and transparency etc.). The professionalisation of local government institutions, based on clear career paths and appropriate remunerations and training for local government employees, is essential. To strengthen transparency and accountability, the legal and institutional framework should improve public control and citizens' access to public data (e.g. through the use of new technologies); and fight against corruption and bribery. An effective, well-enforced regulatory framework (using tendering, contracts, etc.) is also essential to get the best out of private enterprises and expand partnerships for specific projects with communities.

Effective decentralisation is critical to enhancing national and local urban policies. To improve the institutional framework, national governments should promote the strong involvement of city and regional authorities in all processes of metropolitan and sub-national legal or administrative reforms, in the definition of sub-national development strategies and particularly in the definition and implementation of national urban and territorial policies.

3.3 Promote integrated national urban and territorial policies

The existence of decentralisation and strong national frameworks for urban and territorial policies is also critical for the management of a balanced system of cities and territories. These policies need to be supported by a clear legal and institutional framework, based on the principles of subsidiarity, an adequate intergovernmental allocation of financial resources and the empowerment of citizens. A multi-level governance approach will be strengthened by strong political will, which is needed to define visionary national strategies through a broad consultative process.³²

National frameworks for urban and territorial policies are critical for fostering sustainable urbanisation and regional development, ensuring integration across policy silos and better allocation of national resources to sub-national governments, coupled with mechanisms to reduce socio-economic and territorial inequalities between and within regions. Such policies will recognise the importance of all levels of human settlements – rural areas, small towns, intermediate cities³³ and metropolitan areas – in the system of cities and devolve governance mechanisms in such a way that all systems are able to respond appropriately to local realities and challenges, fostering interconnectivity and complementarity and thereby building an integrated system of cities.

The Habitat III Policy Unit 3 highlights the need for national urban policies to be legitimate, integrated and actionable, monitored effectively and supported by mechanisms that ensure continuity whilst allowing for necessary adjustments.

3.4 Reinforce metropolitan governance

Responding to new urban challenges requires adjusting the distribution of power to match the reality of where people live and work (functional urban areas),³⁴ rather than matching policies to administrative boundaries that were, in some cases, drawn up centuries ago. Metropolitan governance mechanisms can offer flexible coordination of policies amidst rapidly changing conditions to help address externalities and spillover issues and create synergies to boost metropolitan development.³⁵ Strategic spatial planning,³⁶ major infrastructure development and the provision of public services in metropolitan areas call for a concerted effort – for example, the complexity of providing public transport systems that enable millions of trips to be made in a safe and timely manner every day poses serious technical, managerial, political and financial problems that isolated municipalities cannot solve individually.

There is no one-size-fits-all solution; metropolitan governance models can range from soft partnerships to more institutionalised arrangements (e.g. single- or multi-sectoral planning agencies, inter-municipal collaboration agreements, elected or non-elected metropolitan supra-municipal structures).³⁷ Different models could be set up within the same country in order to respond appropriately to the specific needs of different metropolitan regions.

Adequate legal tools and related incentives are required in order to foster metropolitan governance and voluntary inter-municipal co-operation. National standards (such as population thresholds) could be established for identifying areas where metropolitan governance is required – taking into account the specific economic, social, environmental and cultural characteristics of different places. In order to be successful, metropolitan governance reforms require 'buy-in' from all levels of government – particularly from core and peripheral cities – and they need to be adapted to the different national/regional contexts.³⁸

Metropolitan governance structures should be given powers that are relevant to metropolitan concerns, together with access to financing mechanisms that deal with externalities and mobilise medium and long term investments in big infrastructure projects and metropolitan services.

Metropolitan finances should ensure that equalization mechanisms are in place to reduce internal disparities. Partnerships with the private sector and communities can also contribute to improving resource mobilisation for service delivery and infrastructures (contracts, lease, concessions, etc.)

The emergence of urban regions and corridors – including across national borders – calls for even wider horizontal cooperation to facilitate economic and social development and to respond to environmental challenges. Cross-boundary coordination between national, regional and local authorities is needed to enhance the resilience of rapidly urbanizing areas.

3.5 Promote a new culture of participation and equity

The challenges outlined in Section 2 call for a new 'culture of participation' based on an empowered civil society and a buoyant local democracy, characterised by an approach encompassing corresponsibility for urban and local development. New urban governance can contribute to a recalibration of the 'interface' between government, the private sector and civil society, thereby 'deepening' democratic practices to balance traditional and informal lobbies. The establishment of a new kind of 'culture' is one of the most serious challenges for urban governance.

An appropriate and efficient legal framework to ensure the responsible participation of citizens in decision-making at different levels is a pre-condition for boosting civil society participation in urban development on a regular basis. In particular, this concerns the participation of women, youth, informal workers and marginalised groups (e.g. slum dwellers, minorities or immigrants) at local level.

In addition to national and local legal frameworks, national and local governments should define institutional spaces or mechanisms, set clear and transparent rules, facilitate access to public information (open data) and promote adequate policy support in order to encourage the participation of autonomous civil society organisations in local decision-making processes. New technologies can help keep inhabitants informed and involved.

Innovative participation processes have been established and applied in some countries over the past few years (participatory budget and planning, youth councils, etc.). However, as some critics of these processes stress, participatory practices should not result in controlling citizen participation, but rather in fostering autonomous community organisation.³⁹

Civil society should make local and national governments accountable to citizens and communities, building independent mechanisms for the monitoring and evaluation of public policies (e.g. observatories). National and local governments can also promote independent mechanisms to facilitate arbitration where conflicts arise between citizens and public administration (e.g. the local ombudsman).

3.6 Strengthen capacity-building for urban governance

New urban governance requires greater capacity at all levels of governance and for all involved actors. Above all, every local government should be able to set up a well-resourced capacity-building programme, led locally in partnership with civil society and supported both nationally and internationally. Decentralisation and devolution should be the focus of specific capacity-building programmes. The extent of decentralisation and the legal frameworks that accompany this should be assessed, as well as urban planning and management, the capacity of sub-national governments to improve their accounting, auditing and procurement systems and the follow-up capacity of national governments, etc.

This requires a systemic approach and the mobilisation of different modalities of education and training – high and middle-level education, technical courses, peer-to-peer learning and technical support - to overcome the gaps that exist in the professional and administrative capacity of many countries to manage urbanisation. Innovative strategies targeted at local governments and other institutions that operate at city level should be developed.⁴⁰ This includes the engagement of local government and civil society in a mutual exchange of information and knowledge. The involvement of civil society requires the development of capacity-building programmes to improve the capacity of community leaders and public institutions to engage in dialogue and support a partnership-collaborative approach. Powerful NGOs such as Women in Informal Employment (WIEGO) and Slum Dwellers International (SDI) have been able to pool resources and increase access to information for low-income communities, with tangible positive outcomes.⁴¹

Efforts should also be directed at closing the gap between the realities of academia and that of local government. In addition, there is a need for stronger learning links between local governments and the business sector in order to foster richer collaboration between public officers and local stakeholders. In terms of monitoring and evaluation, there is a need to strengthen national and local capacity to access and produce disaggregated data (e.g. through the use of new technologies), as well as developing sub-national governments' capacity to monitor urban and territorial data.

3.7 Enable digital era governance

New urban governance will have to be digital era governance.⁴² This implies that public interest must be the driving force behind urban innovation and the deployment of information technologies for a new urban governance. Established instruments of e-governance – above all digital access to information – will have to continue being developed in a 'citizen centric' way to better facilitate inter-departmental, inter-agency and cross sector collaboration. In addition, new technological opportunities such as those linked to sensoring, real-time information, predictive analytics, 'algorithmic governance', automation and big data need to be explored, tested and potentially scaled further whilst at the same time considering the risks, technology obsolescence, cost effectiveness and overall efficiency.

Digital era governance should empower civil society. Social media gives all actors a platform to voice their concerns, express their interests, organise political pressure and interact with political leaders. E-governance can facilitate democratisation and participation, for instance by engaging citizens more directly with the legislative and policy-making processes (by proposing new legislation or by suggesting amendments to existing laws).

In an age of digital transformation, the role of governments should be to facilitate, stimulate, offer room for technological and social innovation, remove legal, financial or fiscal obstacles, and bring parties together in a spirit of multi-stakeholder partnership. Still, a critical role for public authorities is to establish the rules of engagement (such as ensuring interoperability, open data and protecting rights), create frameworks to protect the public interest and personal privacy, and offer a long-term vision. This requires governments to be learning organisations, continuously open to change.

4 Key actors for actions – enabling institutions

The successful implementation of the New Urban Agenda will only be possible through a sustained collaborative effort between all relevant actors. This includes national, sub-national and local governments working closely with civil society and the private sector to ensure clear mandates, mechanisms for cooperation and dialogue, the sharing of best practices, accountability and transparency, effective decentralisation, and the promotion of stakeholder participation at all levels.

Although each actor has many specific and unique responsibilities, the challenges outlined in Section 2 cannot be addressed in isolation. Even where the basic motivations of actors may differ (e.g. for profit or non-profit), they all share a common interest in articulating and realising the New Urban Agenda. Identifying these actors and their roles is a key step towards the crucial task of policy design and implementation.

4.1 Local governments

Local governments are pivotal to implementing the New Urban Agenda and consequently decentralisation policies should be beneficial to them. Strong and capable local governments are the key levers to ensure inclusive and sustainable urban development,⁴³ accountable and transparent city management, and a dynamic multi-stakeholder involvement aimed at the protection of human rights and public goods.

Local governments should promote and pursue more integrated and participatory approaches to urban and territorial governance, including economic, social and environmental aspects as well as aesthetic and cultural ones. Local governments should enhance accountability and transparency mechanisms, including open access to public documents. They should improve their capacity to manage urban and territorial development (e.g. planning and land management policies), preferably in accordance with a proper code of conduct and through training and peer-to-peer learning. Intermunicipal cooperation should be a priority to promote synergies and ensure economies of scale between local governments. The challenges of local government finance are critical to urban governance and also require specific attention (see Policy Paper 5 and Sections 3 and 5).

These integrated approaches require the participation of local stakeholders in key processes (planning, implementation, monitoring) through mechanisms such as participatory planning and budgeting, local consultation, neighbourhood committees, digital democracy, referenda, and monitoring of urban policies. To encourage the participation of civil society, local governments should put mechanisms in place to facilitate and support the autonomous organisation of inhabitants based on their freedom of association.

Local governments should enter into a broad dialogue with civil society groups. They are the key facilitators for participation processes, responsible for creating an 'enabling' environment for all actors. They also have to take on the difficult role of mediating between various pressure and interest groups in the urban development process, thereby making it more inclusive. To do this, local governments will have to acquire new skills for dealing with diverse and contested issues.⁴⁴ Moreover, horizontal cooperation between various departments and vertical exchange between different levels of government is a prerequisite for effective local government.

Local government associations should be recognised as providers of capacity-building and important vehicles for knowledge sharing – locally, nationally and internationally.

The issue of metropolitan governance requires special consideration due to the wide range of stakeholders required to make it work, including the private sector (which can sometimes advocate for metropolitan governance in order to promote the economic competitiveness and attractiveness of metropolitan areas), professional communities (such as architects, engineers, geographers, sociologists, economists and political scientists), the education and knowledge community (universities and think thanks), labour unions, and many other civil society organisations.⁴⁵ All these actors play a role in creating a sense of belonging and ownership.

Other intermediate governments (such as provinces, regions or states) can also play a crucial role in the coordination and effectiveness of metropolitan governance. Intermediate levels of government

and metropolitan areas are typically competing for responsibilities and financial revenues. Win-win solutions need to be sought and effective cooperation encouraged in order to avoid unproductive competition and duplication of effort.

Local governments can, with national governments, play an additional role in establishing indicators for the monitoring and evaluation of urban policies, creating an accountability framework for the delivery of basic services, and supporting capacity-building programmes at the local level (see Paragraphs 14 and 15; Section A; UN Habitat International Guidelines on Decentralisation, 2009).

4.2 National governments

Although local governments are closest to the inhabitants of cities and have the greatest potential impact in shaping the urban agenda, national governments are best positioned to promote and ensure effective decentralisation and stakeholder participation at all governmental levels. National governments should recognise the importance of capacity building at the local level and partner with local governments to ensure successful implementation of the New Urban Agenda.

Tensions between different spheres of government in the urban governance realm are inevitable but they are exacerbated by a lack of clear roles and responsibilities. It is therefore essential that national governments clearly define what these roles and responsibilities are for each key actor and that they grant a high degree of autonomy to local governments in the application of the roles and responsibilities transferred or assigned to them.

National governments are responsible for establishing the legal and institutional frameworks for National urban and territorial policies (see Policy Paper 3 on National Urban Policy). In this regard, national authorities should create and promote appropriate mechanisms for dialogue and coordination between different levels of government, with the strong involvement of local governments in the definition, implementation and monitoring of urban and regional policies and plans. For example, national governments could create National Urban Forumsⁱ, think tanks or legislative processes to discuss urban issues of national relevance with all stakeholders.

National governments should promote openness and transparency as well as accountability and responsibility in all spheres of government. They should strengthen national systems (e.g. audit offices and procurement systems) and independent legal mechanisms for the administrative resolution of conflicts. Furthermore, they should ensure the collection of localised data – with the help of national statistical offices in collaboration with local governments and local stakeholders – to facilitate the monitoring and evaluation of national and sub-national urban development policies.

Where relevant, national governments should support and facilitate cross-border cooperation, thus recognising the significant economic and social benefits arising from greater coordination between continuous urban areas, whilst also supporting cross-border and supra-national cooperation between cities and regions. In addition, national governments should facilitate greater cooperation and exchange between urban areas within their territory.

4.3 Judiciary and legislative branches

The legislature is important at all levels when setting out rules and regulations to enable the New Urban Agenda. The legislature also has an important role when it comes to the application of policies, treaties and agendas, for example "The Brundtland Report on Our Common Future", "The

^j National Urban Forums, in various forms and roles but mostly facilitated by the national government, have been actively implemented in Brazil and are emerging in some Asian countries.

COP21 Agenda on Climate Action" and the "New Urban Agenda", which are put forward and ratified in supranational contexts but require legal enforcement at the national level.

The judiciary plays a key role in interpreting and defining the scope of principles, values and rights and can therefore play a strategic role in promoting and encouraging the New Urban Agenda. The judiciary has the vital task of ensuring the "right of individuals and civil society organisations to take legal action on behalf of affected communities or groups that do not have the resources or skills to take such action themselves" and have "access to effective judicial and administrative channels for affected individuals and groups so that they can challenge or seek redress from decisions and actions that are socially and environmentally harmful or violate human rights," as outlined in the 1996 Istanbul Declaration.

4.4 Supranational governments and intergovernmental cooperation

Supranational institutions can play an important role in defining and endorsing global guidelines for good urban governance. The EU's Lille Agenda, for example, has promoted "greater recognition of the role of towns and cities in spatial planning", and further developed work on urban indicators which began with the EU Urban Audit.⁴⁶

However, other intergovernmental forums, including regional and sub-regional organisations (e.g. ASEAN, Mercosur, the African Union and sub-regional organisations in Africa), must also be acknowledged as important enabling actors. Such organisations should encourage cross-border inter-municipal cooperation and commitments, for example the 2015 Makassar Declaration on ASEAN Cities and Local Governments, produced by mayors from ASEAN member states. They could also produce guidelines and share good practices on urban governance among their members.⁴⁷

4.5 Civil society

Civil society is a social sphere separate from both the state and the market, encompassing a wide range of non-governmental and not-for-profit organisations that have a presence in public life and that express the interests and values of their members (or others) based on ethical, cultural, political, scientific, religious or philanthropic considerations. Civil Society Organisations (CSOs) include non-profits (local, national, global), community organisations, charities, trade unions, faith-based organisations, indigenous groups and social movements.

CSOs are important actors in the articulation and implementation of the New Urban Agenda; they facilitate and enable the active involvement of all inhabitants. This includes women, youth and the elderly, indigenous communities, migrants and refugees, ethnic and religious minorities, LGBT communities and other vulnerable, disadvantaged or marginalised communities. Such groups and individuals are not always able to exercise their agency through civil society organisations (such as NGOs), the private sector, or formal political channels.

It is therefore important to reinforce the Istanbul Declaration's statement that "sustainable human settlements development requires the active engagement of civil society organisations, as well as the broad-based participation of all people."

A functioning relationship between government institutions and civil society requires mediators and facilitators. Some NGOs and those in academia have assumed this role in diverse capacities, entering into long-term alliances with civil society groups, whilst others are offering specific services and play a catalytic role in introducing and refining new initiatives (such as community-based slum surveys or monitoring systems⁴⁸) in close collaboration with community organisations.

4.6 Education and knowledge institutions

Education and research about urban issues could play a more active role at the local level in the dissemination and promotion of knowledge to civil society and to local governments.

Primary schools, secondary schools and high schools could play an important role in teaching and training children and young people about basic urban principles and issues and what it takes to be an active democratic citizen in a city, taking part in local decision-making processes. In the long run this would strengthen capacity building and participation at the local level.

Academia not only adds systemic knowledge to on-going projects and urbanisation processes but, with the involvement of students, it has the potential to bridge the gap between different types of knowledge and between theory and practice. Students can provide planning and design services in a participative and collaborative way^k.

Closing the gap between academia and local government realities will require stronger links and interaction between the two, together with open dialogue. Universities can take the lead in knowledge generation and updating curricula to be more relevant and responsive to local policy priorities. While it is highly recommended that local governments make research-informed decisions, the academic community should also make an effort to disseminate and promote the findings of its research to policy-making bodies.

4.7 Private sector

The private sector is going to play an important role in implementing the new urban agenda.⁴⁹

This sector includes individual, for-profit and commercial enterprises or businesses (developers, contractors), manufacturers and service providers, business associations and coalitions, and corporate philanthropic foundations. Article 238(b) of the Istanbul Declaration highlights the importance of "encouraging business enterprises to pursue investment and other policies, including non-commercial activities that will contribute to human settlements development, especially in relation to the generation of work opportunities, basic services, access to productive resources and construction of infrastructures." This principle should also underpin the New Urban Agenda, while the potential for businesses of all sizes to both contribute to service delivery and promote innovation must be fostered.

The private sector can, for example, take an active role in urban development through Public Private Partnerships and Public Private Popular Partnerships. National and local governments should, where appropriate, develop legal and institutional frameworks and gather the knowledge to enable and regulate such complex partnerships, ensuring the public interest is protected in the long-run.⁵⁰ Governmental actors should also support the active participation of local stakeholders in implementation, emphasising co-responsibility, co-ownership and co-creation.

While the traditional role of the private sector is to create jobs, wealth and profit, it should increasingly ensure "social corporate responsibilities" by working with a triple bottom line: the financial, the environmental and the social seen as equally important for long-term success. This is consistent with the ten principles of the UN Global Compact and Article 43(m) of the Istanbul Declaration, which emphasises "an expanded concept of the 'balance sheet'."

^k See for example the projects of the Community Organizations Development Institute (CODI) in Thailand, the activities of the Special Interest Group in Urban Settlement (SIGUS) at MIT and the Urban Management Program at the TU Berlin.

Corporate philanthropic organisations will also play an important role in the New Urban Agenda, by promoting innovative practices, providing valuable financial support, and facilitating the transfer of knowledge about successful models of urban development.⁵¹

4.8 Financial institutions and international development agencies

Financial institutions such as pension funds, banks, insurance companies and sovereign wealth funds play a special role in allocating capital according to different needs. They should at global, national and regional level work with national and local governments in a responsible and accountable way, based on a transparent code of conduct (e.g. UNPRI - Principles of Responsible Investments). When investing in local projects, they should work in partnership with local government and other local stakeholders on project design and implementation, in line with the commitment in the Addis Ababa Action Agenda to "better align[ing] private sector incentives with public goals, including incentivizing the private sector to adopt sustainable practices, and foster long-term quality investment."

Similarly, international development agencies should channel funds to basic urban services and infrastructures and provide funding for training and ongoing capacity building at the local level. They should, as outlined in the Addis Ababa Action Agenda, "support cities and local authorities of developing countries, particularly in least developed countries and small island developing States, in implementing resilient and environmentally sound infrastructure, including energy, transport, water and sanitation, and sustainable and resilient buildings using local materials."

5 Policy design, implementation and monitoring

As outlined in previous sections, the development of a new urban governance that responds to the increasing complexities and uncertainties of our societies requires important shifts at different levels. A new culture of cooperation between institutions and the participation of civil society calls for the building of an effective multi-level governance system, supported by decentralised institutions and national urban and territorial policies; governance adapted to metropolitan areas; a buoyant and engaged civil society; and capacity building programmes.

5.1 Create strong multi-level governance frameworks

National authorities should:

- Create and promote appropriate mechanisms for regular dialogue and coordination between different levels of government, to involve sub-national governments in the definition and implementation of key policies and all other matters that concern them directly, e.g. decentralisation, sub-national administration boundaries, urban and territorial policies.
- Implement these mechanisms at national and regional levels (e.g. through national or regional governments' councils, forums, consultation committees) to strengthen the cooperation between public institutions. This will be critical for the implementation of the New Urban Agenda and the SDGs, which were designed as a multi-level and multi-sectoral undertaking, with the aim of facilitating the localisation of goals and targets.
- Carry out an assessment of the main institutions, processes and regulations that involve urban and territorial development policies in order to identify institutional overlaps and gaps, contradictory legislation and regulations and planning and budget execution backlogs.

• Engage in a progressive revision of national, regional and local government legislation and regulations in a collaborative way, to promote a more coherent and inclusive multi-level governance system, combining bottom-up and top-down approaches to foster integrated national urban and territorial policies.

5.2 Strengthen decentralisation processes

- Regular review of national and local government legislation and rules to ensure sub-national governments are adequately empowered to support an effective decentralisation process, based on the principle of subsidiarity and respect for local self-government. Incremental and adaptive legal and institutional reforms should promote effective decentralisation based on the recognition of legally autonomous sub-national governments, elected through universal suffrage and endowed with clear devolved powers, responsibilities and resources defined in national laws and, where practicable, in the constitution.
- Ensure that empowered local governments are entitled to adequate financial resources, sufficiently diversified and commensurate with the devolved responsibilities provided by law, so that they are responsible for, and accountable to, the citizens that have elected them. A significant proportion of the financial resources of local authorities should derive from local taxes, fees and charges to cover at least part of the costs of the services they need to provide. However some resource will involve transfers (grants, subventions) from other levels of government in order to top-up local budgets. To avoid leaving any territory or city behind, equalisation mechanisms should guarantee that all territories and cities have the means to guarantee basic services for their inhabitants. National policies should facilitate adequate access to responsible and transparent borrowing so that sub-national governments can invest in essential and resilient infrastructures and services (for more details on financial reforms see Policy Unit 5).
- Acknowledge that local authorities should be allowed to determine their own administrative structures in order to adapt to local needs, and have the autonomy to manage their staff based on merit and transparent policies that avoid clientelism. This may require capacity building in order to foster the professionalisation of local government employees.
- Strengthen the capacity of sub-national governments, as well as the follow-up capacity of national government, to guarantee transparency and accountability (e.g. good accounting, auditing and procurement systems). It is also necessary to improve access to public information and data (e.g. open data) and define mechanisms to fight against corruption and bribery (codes of conduct, declaration of interests and assets, anti-corruption enforcement mechanisms etc.).
- Encourage appropriate regulatory frameworks and support local governments in partnering with the private sector and communities to develop basic services and infrastructures. The use of new technologies should be promoted to improve city management as well as accountability and transparency, mindful of the protection of public goods and of specific constraints in terms of access to digital information and local habits.

5.3 Promote integrated national urban and territorial policies¹

- Develop or strengthen national urban and territorial policies as a critical pillar for multi-level urban governance, with the aim of promoting more balanced and sustainable regional development.
- Develop or improve national urban and territorial policies to build a framework for stronger coordination between national and local governments and key stakeholders. Policies should be

¹See also paper by Policy Unit 3

developed through a broader consultation process to create ownership amongst different parties.

- At national level, strengthen the capacities and the coordination among sectoral ministries and national institutions dealing with urban and territorial policies (e.g. through a ministry or a coordination office at ministerial level for urban development) to avoid segmented urban policies and promote integrated approaches.
- At regional level, promote and facilitate the collaboration and complementarities between metropolitan areas, intermediary cities and small towns with their hinterlands to build a strong 'system of cities' and foster urban-rural partnerships.
- Ensure that national and territorial policies recognise and support the role of intermediary cities as nodes for regional development in order to drive a more balanced urban and territorial development.
- Foster cooperation between nearby local governments (horizontal cooperation) and particularly between small towns, by considering a legal framework which would allow and encourage associations of municipalities to deliver joint plans and services, with the aim of achieving economies of scale and efficient use of resources. Special attention should be given to regions with specific characteristics (e.g. delta regions) and cities that are part of clusters and urban corridors, in order to take advantage of new economic opportunities for planning, access to infrastructures and public services, comprehensive environmental protection, etc.
- Consider cross-border cooperation to improve the management of emergent urban areas, regions and corridors across national borders. This involves the development of bilateral cooperation agreements and of regional integration mechanisms (e.g. the European Union, Singapore-Batam-Johor in the ASEAN region and the cooperation of cities in Mercosur).
- Ensure that national and territorial policies safeguard against environmental degradation and damage at all levels of government.
- With regard to SDG target 1.4., improve the management of informal settlements and ensure that land regulatory frameworks and planning provide for the implementation of the "continuum of land rights", recognising a plurality of tenure types within the local context. Governments at all levels should recognise and record people-to-land relationships in all its forms, embrace diversity and complexity in the land sector and implement fit-for-purpose solutions towards increasing tenure security for all urban inhabitants.

5.4 Reinforce metropolitan governance

- Consider the creation of metropolitan governance structures, facilitated by adequate institutional arrangements or law reforms or incentives to foster voluntary inter-municipal cooperation at the metropolitan scale. To this end, national governments, in consultation with local authorities, are advised to establish national standards (such as population thresholds) for identifying metropolitan areas.
- Establish metropolitan level accounts which bring together data aggregated from different existing sources, but also include dedicated new data that captures the metropolitan dimension. Key data should cover metropolitan spatial development, economic development, housing, transport and environmental performance.52
- Endow metropolitan governments with their own powers and responsibilities, with a clear division of tasks between metropolitan government and other levels of government to avoid competing responsibilities. Key sectoral policies to be addressed at the metropolitan scale might include spatial planning and land use, transport infrastructure and key services (water, waste),

environmental protection, economic development, housing, risk prevention, etc. To avoid competition for responsibilities and financial resources effective co-operative mechanisms need to be pursued, particularly with municipalities and other intermediate levels of government (for example regions, states or provinces)

- Establish clearly defined and reliable financing mechanisms to empower metropolitan governance, but avoid competition between municipalities and other intermediate levels of government. Metropolitan authorities must be provided with increased fiscal competences to mobilise the potential wealth generated within their territories, be they economic or property gains (including land-added value) and intra-metropolitan equalisation mechanisms.
- Consider specific metropolitan funds, raised by local taxes and transfers from municipalities and other levels of government (including central government), to deal with externalities (spillovers) and that could act as levers to mobilise medium and long-term investments. This will improve metropolitan creditworthiness and allow them to access national and international financing, both public and private, in order to invest in the development of major infrastructures and services.

5.5 Promote a new culture of participation and equity

- At the national level, create or advance the development of an effective regulatory framework to foster participation by local governments. It should be drafted by a comprehensive and inclusive platform of individuals and organisations, taking into account local context, culture and practices. It should address issues such as participation, operational mechanisms, monitoring instruments, financial provision and when participation processes are to be applied.
- Promote open mindedness on the part of local leaders towards disadvantaged groups and a readiness to enter into dialogue. This can be increased through transparency, accountability and comprehensive communication strategies such as, but not limited to, access to public documents, open data policies, public hearings and public discussions of important projects in their early stages. The latter is of particular importance in projects where conflicting interests are anticipated.
- Ensure that the existence of autonomous civil society movements and organisations is acknowledged and supported by local authorities and higher levels of government. This can be achieved through mechanisms such as the allocation of a percentage of the local budget to civil society movements, support in kind, the provision of space and equipment, access to the media and other enabling means.
- Encourage experimentation with innovative direct participatory processes such as participatory budgeting, co-production^m of services with civil society organisations, and community-based monitoring.⁵³
- Participation should take advantage of digital technologies⁵⁴ and social media for information, data collection,⁵⁵ communication and coordination of various activities.⁵⁶
- Engage civil society organisations, NGOs and academia in monitoring and evaluating public policies and projects, e.g. through observatories, citizens or communities' report cards.
- Develop independent mechanisms to defend the position of inhabitants with respect to local authorities and private companies, particularly for slums and informal settlements.⁵⁷ Encourage

^m Direct cooperation between CSOs and government institutions has been widely discussed under the term 'co-production' (Watson 2014) or 'collaborative governance' (Ansell and Gash 2012: 546). For experiences and the transnational scope of this engagement see Ginzel (2015) and Herrle et al. (2012, 2015).

women to participate in public discourses, administration and decision making for urban development through incentives, campaigns, training and increased public recognition.

5.6 Strengthen capacity building for urban governance

Capacity building must accompany governance reforms to ensure the changes are sustainable and implementation is successful:

- Create a system-wide capacity-building alliance that allows for structural dialogue between national and local governments and like-minded partners (academia, NGOs), existing local government and civil society networks and, where appropriate, international cooperation.
- Promote awareness-raising initiatives to demonstrate the added value of capacity-building and links between capacity-building and wider policy outcomes. Strategies and programs for capacity building must be rooted in the local context. Sectoral approaches to traditional training need to evolve into more integrated approaches that break down silos and allow for strategic, system-wide thinking. Capacity-building strategies should encourage experimentation and innovation.
- National and local governments should set up well-resourced capacity-building programmes⁵⁸ to train their officers and employees to improve the quality of urban management and support a collaborative and integrated governance approach.
- Training programmes and government initiatives should be specifically geared toward strengthening the skills and abilities of the most marginalised and vulnerable groups in society to enable these communities to overcome the causes of their vulnerability and exclusion.
- They should also set up specific training programmes that address civil society participation needs in order to improve the capacity of community leaders and public institutions to engage in dialogue and support a collaborative partnership approach. Local government associations need to be recognised [by law] as providers of capacity building and important instruments for knowledge sharing.
- As a precondition to such efforts, it is essential to ensure that the careers of civil servants are rewarded: financial and reputational recognition will be essential. International development initiatives should always include funding for training and ongoing capacity building at the local level to ensure the sustainability of any such programme.ⁿ
- Any such programmes should build on and expand cooperation between cities, local governments and civil society both North-South and South-South that, with adequate support, could contribute to capacity building programmes and support peer-to-peer learning to enhance the role of public officers (elected and non-elected) in urban and territorial development and in facilitating local stakeholder participation.

5.7 Monitoring and data

• Establish regular monitoring systems of urban and territorial policies at national and local levels, with multi-stakeholder involvement and agreed quantitative and qualitative indicators. The monitoring systems will benefit from the gathering and availability of comparable statistical data and information.

ⁿ E.g. as articulated in the Addis Ababa Action Agenda, "support cities and local authorities of developing countries, particularly in least developed countries and small island developing States, in implementing resilient and environmentally sound infrastructure, including energy, transport, water and sanitation, and sustainable and resilient buildings using local materials."

- Governments at all levels to contribute to the availability of high-quality, timely and reliable data, disaggregated by income, gender, age, race, ethnicity, migratory status and disability, with geographic location and characteristics relevant in national contexts.
- Make use of many of the targets and indicators developed for Agenda 2030 (SDGs), particularly goals 11 and 16, which could contribute to building a set of basic indicators for urban governance. In addition, a broader base of indicators needs to be defined, so that each country can adapt them to their particular context or interest. The set of indicators should evolve and be dynamic.
- Create reporting mechanisms that form part of a 'national observatory of urban and territorial polices', with a joint steering committee with representatives from national and local governments, academia, civil society, the business sector, to develop a national reporting system supported by regular reporting at city level, peer-to-peer reviews, citizen satisfaction surveys or report cards and community-based monitoring.⁵⁹
- Establish effective evaluation mechanisms that can be used as a capacity-building tool by including all relevant actors, who collectively reflect and review their own practices and enrich their plans and actions through a formative evaluation.
- Ensure the successful development and implementation of a citizen-centric digital era governance that continuously taps into technological innovations. This will require strong political will, collaborative leadership and new institutional frameworks, "including a national ICT policy and e-government strategy, as well as strengthening institutions and building the capacities of public servants."⁶⁰
- Develop and establish standards for open data, compatibility, collaboration and interoperability.
- Ensure a commitment to transparent, accountable, responsive, inclusive and collaborative urban governance, backed up by adequate human capital and a 'made to measure' robust ICT infrastructure. Public authorities should take ownership of the requirements on the design, use and monitoring of ICT governance tools.

Conclusion

Appropriate urban governance and institutional frameworks hold the key to the success of the New Urban Agenda. Successful urban governance will need to be democratic and inclusive, it should have the long-term in mind but be flexible and able to adapt quickly. It should be multi-scale and multi-level, able to adapt to changes by being innovative, forward thinking, open to new ideas and responsive to the rapid transformations of urban landscapes (e.g. metropolisation, peri-urbanisation and rapid urban growth in developing countries). Successful urban governance also needs to respond flexibly to changes in urban economic and social structures (e.g. new pressures posed by an ever changing digital age, increasingly virtual and delocalised economies, social fragmentation and gentrification, ageing populations and youth bulges) and, last but not least, to global uncertainties (uneven economic growth, financial and economic crises, the impact of climate change and natural disasters, etc.).

New urban governance needs to respond clearly to the new demands of citizens to address the *right to the city* by creating enabling legal and institutional frameworks at different governmental levels.

New urban governance will increasingly be the result of complex and intricate multi-level and multistakeholder governance systems, based on interactions between different levels of government and between citizens and a wide range of non-governmental actors, including the private sector. At the national level, a robust multi-level governance system will have 1) strong national policies for urban and territorial development, 2) effective decentralisation processes, as well as 3) transparent and accountable institutions supported by good, coherent and enforceable legal frameworks.

At city level, strong and capable local governments are the key levers to ensure inclusive and sustainable urban governance and accountable and transparent city management, with a vibrant multi-stakeholder involvement to achieve equal rights and opportunities for all. It is at city level that the *right to the city* should be recognised as a cross-cutting policy approach.

The first pillar of multi-level governance is a national urban and territorial policy that promotes a strong system of cities and balanced territorial development. The inclusiveness, openness and consensus building that form part of the process of defining these policies will be as crucial as the outputs. It will be the foundation for a more cooperative and coherent working framework between different levels of government and key stakeholders. This process will promote a paradigm shift, combining bottom-up and top-down approaches, with the aim of building synergies and complementarities between metropolitan areas, intermediary cities and small towns.

The second key pillar of multi-level governance is the empowerment of local governments through the sharing of powers, capabilities and resources. Models of urban governance for the 21st century should include strong recognised local governments with greater authority and more professional staff, promoting a more holistic and integrated approach to urban development. Inter-municipal cooperation, including between urban and rural municipalities, should be facilitated through incentives to create economies of scale and integration. Local authorities should also be responsible for the active involvement of local stakeholders, including the most vulnerable, in local decision making.

In a majority of countries, big urban agglomerations are the engines of national development. Metropolitan governance systems should be adapted to individual contexts and endowed with appropriate powers and resources. The governance of new urban forms – for example megacities, urban regions and corridors– will be one of the biggest challenges.

In spite of the shape and size of urban governments, access to adequate financing needs to be addressed. Adequate local fiscal competences and capacities are necessary to allow local governments to mobilise the potential wealth generated within their territories to finance the city. As part of the multi-level arrangements and decentralisation process, central governments must also ensure (through shared taxes and transfers) that equalising mechanisms are in place for a balanced redistribution of national resources among the territories. They should support the access of local governments to borrowing to invest in infrastructures that will shape the urban future and ensure national development. Adequate regulatory frameworks and technical support can promote corresponsibility and co-production of services and infrastructures between local governments, the private sector and communities through innovative partnerships. New technologies could be important levers to change urban management and facilitate participation. In all these cases, public authorities should be mindful of the need to guarantee universal access to public services and the protection of the commons (public space, water, air and the environment).

The third pillar of a fair, multi-level governance system is an empowered civil society that is well organised and respected, with the capacity to be an active and demanding partner in public institutions. An effective regulatory framework to foster participation should be developed at the national level and adopted by local governments for their daily practice. The existence of autonomous civil society movements and the private sector should be acknowledged and supported by local authorities and higher levels of government through, for example, funding or other means.

Involvement in decision making of women, youth, the urban poor, minorities and disadvantaged groups should be increased through transparency, accountability and comprehensive communication strategies.

Innovative, meaningful, transparent and accountable interfaces between governments, civil society and the private sector need to be developed further. Co-production of services with civil society organisations should be encouraged to create new alternatives, particularly for the most marginalised areas that may face difficulties being served by traditional systems.

The New Urban Agenda will require a broad process of capacity building, involving national and local governments, civil society and the private sector. National institutions and local government should set up well-resourced capacity-building programmes to support the transformative process of training public employees, as well as local leaders from civil society organisations. A system-wide capacity-building alliance between national and local governments, like-minded partners (for example academia and NGOs) as well as civil society networks and international organisations, will be crucial for fostering capacity building.

Multi-stakeholder monitoring systems of urban and territorial policies at national and local levels can only be built if there is agreement on the definition of indicators and reliable disaggregated data is gathered.

In times of uncertainty and change, only a new urban governance, based on the values and practices discussed in this paper can help "make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable".

Endnotes

⁹ Rode et al. (2008).

¹⁰ United Cities and Local Governments [UCLG] (2014b).

- ¹¹ Smoke (2015).
- ¹² Dodson et al. (2015); Smoke (2015).
- ¹³ LSE Cities et al. (2015).
- ¹⁴ Parnell and Oldfield (2014).
- ¹⁵ Salet and Savini (2015); Council of Europe, Local Government and Public Service Reform Initiative and UNDP (2010).
- ¹⁶ United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division (2014).
- ¹⁷ Andersson (2015); OECD (2015a).
- ¹⁸ See note 5
- ¹⁹ UCLG (2014)
- ²⁰ See European Urban Knowledge Network [EUKN] (2015).
- ²¹ Margetts and Dunleavy (2013).
- ²² Kitchin (2014); Townsend (2014)
- ²³ Transparency International (2015).
- ²⁴ Meuleman and Niestroy (2015).
- ²⁵ Stoker (1998).
- ²⁶ 6 et al. (2002).
- ²⁷ Rode, P. (2015).
- ²⁸ Curry (2015).
- ²⁹ Ibid.
- ³⁰ Evans et al. (2006); Floater et al. (2014); Rydin (2010).
- ³¹ See Farvacque-Vitkovic and Kopanyi (2014)
- ³² UN Habitat and Cities Alliance (2014)
- ³³ ESPON (2012); Roberts (2014).
- ³⁴ Hamilton, D.K. (2014); van den Berg et al. (1997).
- ³⁵ Clark and Moonen (2013).
- ³⁶ Salet et al. (2003).
- ³⁷ World Bank Group (2015); OECD (2015b), Ahrend et al. (2014b); Bahl et al (2013).
- ³⁸ OECD (2015a).
- ³⁹ Cf. International Observatory on Participatory Democracy [OIDP] (2015).
- ⁴⁰ Meuleman and Niestroy (2015).
- ⁴¹ Cf. Women in Informal Employment: Globalising and Organising [WIEGO] (2015), and Shack/Slum Dwellers International [SDI] (2015). ⁴² Dunleavy et al. (2005).
- ⁴³ Sorensen and Okata (2010).
- ⁴⁴ Campbell (2012).
- ⁴⁵ James et al. (2004).
- ⁴⁶ Parkinson (2005), p.15.
- ⁴⁷ Transparency International (2015).
- ⁴⁸ Herrle et al. (2014).
- ⁴⁹ United Nations (2009).
- ⁵⁰ da Cruz and Marques (2012).
- ⁵¹ Lovegrove and Thomas (2013).
- ⁵² OECD (2012).
- ⁵³Conrad and Hilchey (2011).
- ⁵⁴Cf. Livengod and Kunte (2012).
- ⁵⁵Patel and d'Cruz (2012).

⁵⁶Cf. United Nations Human Settlement Programme (UN-Habitat) and Global Tool Network (2010).

¹ United Nations (2015a).

² United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (2015).

³ United Nations (2015b).

⁴ Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development [OECD] (2013b).

⁵ UCLG (2010).

⁶ United Nations Environment Program (2011); The Global Commission on the Economy and Climate (2014).

⁷ Dunleavy and Margetts (2010).

⁸ Burdett et al. (2014).

⁵⁷Rakodi, C. (2002).
58 Stokke, K. (2002).
⁵⁹Herrle et al. (2014).
⁶⁰ United Nations(2014), p.12.

Bibliography

6, P., Leat, D., Seltzer, K. and Stoker, G. (2002), Towards Holistic Governance: The New Reform Agenda, New York, Palgrave.

Ahrend, R. Farchy E., Kaplanis, I., Lembcke A. (2014a), 'What Makes Cities More Productive? Evidence on the Role of Urban Governance from Five OECD Countries', *OECD Regional Development Working Papers*, Paris, OECD Publishing.

Ahrend, R., Gamper, C. & Schumann, A. (2014b), 'The OECD Metropolitan Governance Survey: A Quantitative Description of Governance Structures in large Urban Agglomerations', *OECD Regional Development Working Papers*, Paris, OECD Publishing.

Andersson, M. (2015), *Unpacking Metropolitan Governance for Sustainable Development*, Discussion Paper, Bonn & Eschborn (Germany), UN Habitat – GIZ.

Ansell, C. and Gash, A. (2012), 'Collaborative Governance in Theory and Practice', *Journal of Public Administration Research*, 18, pp. 543-571.

Bahl, R., Linn, J. and Wetzel, D. (editors) (2013), *Financing Metropolitan Governments in Developing Countries*, Cambridge, Massachusetts, Lincoln Institute of Land Policy.

Benz, A. and Papadopoulous, Y. (editors) (2006), *Governance and Democracy. Comparing national, European and International Experiences,* London and New York, Routledge.

Boniburini, I., Moretto, L., Smith, H., & Le Maire, J. (2013), 'The right to the city. The city as common good. Between social politics and urban planning', Cahier de La Cambre N.8, La Lettre volée.

Bradlow, B. (2015), 'Quiet Conflict: Institutional Change, Informal Settlement Upgrading, and Formalized Partnerships Between Local Authorities and Urban Social Movements in South Africa', in Herrle, P., Ley, A. & Fokdal, J. (editors) *From Local Action to Global Networks: Housing the Urban Poor*, London, Ashgate.

Burdett, R., Rode, P., Shankar, P. & Vahidy, S. (editors) (2014), *Governing Urban Futures*, London, LSE Cities, London School of Economics and Political Science.

Campbell, T. (2012), Beyond Smart Cities: How Cities Network, Learn and Innovate, New York, Earthscan.

Clark, G. & Moonen, T. (2013), *The Ten Traits of Globally Fluent Metro Areas: The International Edition,* Washington D.C., The Brookings Institution.

Conrad, C.C. and Hilchey, K. G. (2011), 'A review of citizen science and community-based environmental monitoring: Issues and opportunities', in *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 176, pp. 273-291.

Cooke, B. & Kothari, U (2001), 'The Case for Participation as Tyranny', in Cooke, B. & Kothari, U. (editors) *Participation. The New Tyranny?*, London, Zed Books.

Council of Europe, Local Government and Public Service Reform Initiative and UNDP (2010), *Toolkit Manual – Intermunicipal Cooperation*, <u>http://www.municipal-cooperation.org/images/4/4c/IMC_Toolkit_Manual.pdf</u>

Curry, D. (2015), Network Approaches to Multi-Level Governance. Structures, Relations and Understanding Between Levels, New York, Palgrave Macmillan.

da Cruz, N.F., Marques, R. (2012). 'Mixed companies and local governance: no man can serve two masters', *Public Administration*, 90:3, pp. 737-758.

Dodson, J., Ali, J., Dalton, T. and Horne, R. (2015), *Consolidated Report of Regional National Urban Policies*, RMIT University.

Dunleavy, P. and Margetts, H. (2010), *The Second Wave of Digital Era Governance*, American Political Science Association Conference.

ESPON (2012), Second Tier Cities and Territorial Development in Europe: Performance, Policies and Prospects, Luxembourg, ESPON & European Institute of Urban Affairs, Liverpool John Moores University, 2012.

European Commission (2011), *Cities of Tomorrow: Challenges, visions, ways forward*, Brussels, European Commission.

European Urban Knowledge Network [EUKN] (2015), *Challenges of Small and Medium-Sized Urban Areas* (SMUAS), their Economic Growth Potential and Impact on Territorial Development in the European Union and Latvia, The Hague, EUKN.

Evans, B., Joas, M. Sundback, S. and Theobald, K. (2006), 'Governing local sustainability', *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 49:6, pp. 849-867.

Farvacque-Vitkovic, C. & Kopanyi, M. (editors) (2014), *Municipal Finances: A Handbook for Local Governments,* Washington, The World Bank.

Floater, G, Rode, P., Friedel, B. and Robert, A. (2014), *Steering Urban Growth: Governance, Policy and Finance.* New Climate Economy Cities, Paper 02, London, LSE Cities, London School of Economics and Political Science.

Gaventa, J. (2004), 'Towards participatory governance: assessing the transformative possibilities', in Hickey, S. and Mohan, G. (editors), *Participation: from Tyranny to Transformation?* London and New York, Zed Books, pp. 25-41.

Ginzel, B. (2015), Bridge the Gap! Modes of Action and cooperation of transnational networks of local communities and the influence on urban development in the global south, Münster, LIT.

Governance Working Group of the International Institute of Administrative Sciences (1996), *Governance*, <u>http://www.gdrc.org/u-gov/governance-define.html</u>

Grisel, M. & van de Waart, F. (editors) (2011), *Multi-level Urban Governance or the Art of Working Together*, The Hague, EUKN.

Gurstein, P. & Angeles, L. C. (2007), *Learning Civil Societies: Shifting Contexts for Democratic Planning*, Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Hamilton, D.K. (2014), *Governing Metropolitan Areas: Growth and Change in a Networked Age*, New York, Routledge.

Healey, P. (1997), Collaborative Planning. Shaping Places in Fragmented Societies, London, Macmillan.

Healey, P. (2012), 'Re-enchanting democracy as a mode of governance', Critical Policy Studies, 6:1.

Heinelt, H., Getimis, P., Kafkalas, G., Smith, R., and Swyngedouw, E. (2002), *Participatory Governance in Multi-Level Context: Concepts and Experience*, VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Herrle, P., Fokdal, J. & Ley, A. (2012), 'New Urban Players in Africa and Asia: The Role of Grassroots Organizations', in H. Mieg & K. Töpfer (editors), *Institutional and Social Innovation for Sustainable Urban Development*, New York, Routledge, pp. 146-161.

Herrle, P., Ley, A., & Fokdal, J. (editors) (2015), *From Local Action to Global Networks: Housing the Urban Poor,* London, Ashgate.

Herrle, P., Ley, A., & Nebel, S. (2014), *Innovative Measures of Community Based Monitoring as an Instrument for Inclusive Urban Development*, Working Paper, Eschborn, GIZ.

Hickey, S. and Mohan, G. (2004), 'Towards participation as transformation: critical themes and challenges', In Hickey, S. and Mohan, G. (editors), *Participation: from Tyranny to Transformation?* London and New York, Zed Books, pp. 3-24.

James, P., Holden, M., Lewin, M. et al. (2014), 'Managing metropolises by negotiating urban growth', in Mieg, H. and Töpfer, K. (editors), *Institutional and Social Innovation for Sustainable Urban Development*, New York, Routledge, pp. 217-232.

Hooghe, L. and Marks, G. (2001), *Multi-Level Governance and European Integration*, Lanham, Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.

Hooghe, L. and Marks, G. (2003), 'Unraveling the Central State, but How? Types of Multi-level Governance', *American Political Science Review*, 97:2, pp. 233-243.

International Observatory on Participatory Democracy (2015), *Studies and Research* <u>http://www.oidp.net/en/home/</u>

Jessop, B. (1998), 'The rise of governance and the risks of failure: the case of economic development,' *International Social Science Journal*, 50:155, pp. 29-45.

Kearns, A. and Paddison, R. (2000), 'New challenges for urban governance', Urban Studies, 37:5-6, pp. 845-850.

Kitchin, R. (2014), *The Data Revolution: Big Data, Open Data, Data Infrastructures and their Consequences,* London, Sage.

Levitas, R., et al. (2007), *The Multi-dimensional Analysis of Social Exclusion*, Social Exclusion Task Force, London, Cabinet Office.

Livengod, A. and Kunte, K. (2012), 'Enabling participatory planning with GIS: a case study of settlement mapping in Cuttack, India', *Environment and Urbanisation* 22:1, pp. 77-97.

Lorrain, D. (editor) (2011), Governing Megacities in Emerging Countries, Surrey, Ashgate.

Lovegrove, N. and Thomas, M. (2013), 'Triple-Strength Leadership', *Harvard Business Review*, September, <u>https://hbr.org/2013/09/triple-strength-leadership/ar/1</u>

LSE Cities (2015), The Urban Age: Governance, 2015 https://urbanage.lsecities.net/

LSE Cities, UN-Habitat, UCLG (2015), *The Urban Governance Survey - How Cities are governed. Building a global database for current models of urban governance* <u>https://urbangovernance.net/en/</u>.

Luxembourg Institute of Socio-economic Research (2015), *Opportunities of Cross-border Cooperation between Small and Medium Cities in Europe*, Luxembourg, LISER.

Margetts, H., and Dunleavy, P. (2013), 'The second wave of digital-era governance: a quasi-paradigm for government on the Web', *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society*, 371:1987, pp.1-17.

Marks, G. (1993) 'Structural Policy and Multilevel Governance in the EC', in Cafruny, A. and Rosenthal, G. (Editors), *The State of the European Community Vol. 2: The Maastricht Debates and beyond*, Boulder: Lyne Riener, and Harlow: Longman.

Meuleman, L. and Niestroy, I. (2015), 'Common But Differentiated Governance: A Metagovernance Approach to Make the SDGs Work', *Sustainability*, 7:9, pp. 12295–12321.

Mosse, D. (2001), "People's Knowledge', Participation and Patronage: Operations and Representations in Rural Development', in Cooke, B. & Kothari, U. (editors) *Participation. The New Tyranny?* New York, Zed Books.

Moulaert, F., Martinelli, F., Swyngedouw, E. & González, S. (editors) (2010), *Can Neighbourhoods Save the City? Community Development and Social Innovation,* New York, Routledge.

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development [OECD] (2009), 'Multi-Level Regulatory Governance', OECD Working Papers on Public Governance nº 13, Paris, OECD Publishing.

OECD (2011), 'Governance of Public Policies in Decentralised Contexts, A Multilevel-Approach', OECD Regional Development Working Papers, Paris: OECD Publishing.

OECD (2012), Redefining "Urban", A New Way to Measure Metropolitan Areas, Paris, OECD Publishing.

OECD (2013a), Colombia: Implementing Good Governance, Paris, OECD Publishing.

OECD (2013b), *Rural-Urban Partnerships, an integrated approach to economic development*, Paris, OECD Publishing.

OECD (2015a), Governing the City, Paris, OECD Publishing.

OECD (2015b), *The Metropolitan Century: Understanding Urbanisation and its Consequences*, Paris, OECD Publishing.

OECD (2016), Water Governance and Cities, Paris, OECD Publishing.

Oström, E. (1996), 'Crossing the Great Divide: Coproduction, Synergy, and Development', *World Development,* 24, pp. 1073-1087.

Parkinson, M. (2005), *Urban Policy in Europe. Where have we been and where are we going?*, document prepared under NODE Project on European Metropolitan Governance for Austrian Federal Ministry of Education, Science & Culture.

Parnell, S. and Oldfield, S. (editors) (2014), *The Routledge Handbook on Cities of the Global South*, New York, Routledge.

Patel, S. and d'Cruz, C. (2012), 'Knowledge is power. Informal communities assert their right to the city through SDI and community-led enumerations', *Environment and Urbanisation* 24:1, pp. 23-26.

Peters, G.B. (1998), 'Managing Horizontal Government: The Politics of Co-Ordination', *Public Administration*, 76:2, pp. 295-311.

Peters, G.B. and Pierre, J (2012), 'Urban Governance', in John, P., Mossberger, K., and Clarke, S.E., (editors) *Oxford Handbook of Urban Politics*, Oxford, Oxford University Press.

Pierre, J. (1999), 'Models of urban governance: the institutional dimension of urban politics.' *Urban Affairs Review*, 34:3, pp. 372-396.

Rakodi, C. (2002), 'Building sustainable capacity for urban poverty reduction', in Romaya, S. and Rakodi, C. (editors), *Building sustainable urban settlements*, London: ITDG, pp. p.91-105.

Roberts, B.H. (2014), Managing Systems of Secondary Cities, Brussels, Cities Alliance.

Rode, P. (2015), *Integrated governance as privileging key policy links: The case of strategic planning in London and Berlin*, LSE Cities Working Papers, London, London School of Economics and Political Science.

Rode, P., Wagner, J. Brown, R., Chandra, R., Sundaresan, J., Konstantinou, N., Tesfay, N. and Shankar, P. (2008), *Integrated City Making. Governance, Planning and Transport,* Urban Age Research Report, London, London School of Economics and Political Science.

Rydin, Y. (2010), *Governing for Sustainable Urban Development*, New York, Earthscan.

Salet, W. and Savini, F. (2015), 'The political governance of urban peripheries', *Environment and planning C: Government & policy*, 33:3, pp. 448-456.

Salet, W., Thornley, A., and Kreukels, A. (2003), *Metropolitan Governance and Spatial Planning*, Oxford, Spon Press.

Satterthwaite D. and Mitlin, D., *Reducing Urban Poverty in the Global South*, Oxon (UK & New York (USA), Routledge, 2014

Shack/Slum Dwellers International [SDI] (2015), http://sdinet.org/

Smoke, P. (2015), 'Rethinking Decentralisation: Assisting Challenges to a Popular Public Sector Reform', *Public Administration and Development*, 35, pp. 97–112

Sorensen, A. and Okata, J. (2010), Megacities: Urban Form, Governance, and Sustainability, Berlin, Springer.

Stephenson, P. (2013) 'Twenty years of multi-level governance: 'Where Does It Come From? What Is It? Where Is It Going?', *Journal of European Public Policy*, 20:6, pp. 817-837.

Stoker, G. (2002), Towards Holistic Governance: The New Reform Agenda, New York, Palgrave.

Stokke, K. (2002), *Habitus, capital and fields: Conceptualizing the capacity of actors in local politics, Local Politics and Democratisation in Developing Countries*. University of Oslo, Centre for Development and Environment.

Teschner, K. (2015), 'Urban Grassroots Movements and Agencies of Development Cooperation', in Herrle, P., Ley, A. & Fokdal, J. (editors) *From Local Action to Global Networks: Housing the Urban Poor,* London, Ashgate, pp. 125-142.

The Global Commission on the Economy and Climate (2014), *Better Growth, Better Climate, The New Climate Economy Report, The Synthesis Report,* Washington, New Climate Economy.

Townsend, A. (2014), *Smart Cities: Big Data, Civic Hackers, and the Quest for a New Utopia,* New York, W.W. Norton & Co.

Transparency International (2015), *Local Governance Integrity: Principles and Standards*, <u>https://www.transparency.org/whatwedo/publication/local_governance_integrity_principles_and_standards</u> [20 February 2016].

United Cities Local Governments [UCLG] (2008), *Decentralisation and Local Democracy in the World, First Global Report*, Washington, World Bank Publishing.

UCLG (2015), *Global Charter-Agenda for Human Rights in the City* <u>http://www.uclg-cisdp.org/en/right-to-the-city/world-charter-agenda</u>

UCLG (2011), Local Government Finance: The Challenges of the 21st Century, 2nd Global Report on Decentralisation and Local Democracy, Cheltenham (UK) / Northampton (MA, USA), Edward Elgar.

UCLG (2014a), Basic Services for All in an Urbanizing World, Third Global Report on Local Democracy and Decentralization, Ozon & New York, Routledge.

UCLG (2014b), *Intermediary Cities, Building a New Urban Agenda*, Barcelona, United Cities and Local Governments.

United Nations (2009), *Guidelines on Cooperation between the United Nations and the Private Sector*, New York, United Nations.

United Nations (2014), *E-Government Survey 2014: E-Government for the Future We Want*, New York, United Nations.

United Nations (2015a), *Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development,* New York, United Nations.

United Nations (2015b), Addis Ababa Action Agenda, New York, United Nations.

United Nations Environment Program (2011), *Towards a Green Economy: Pathways to Sustainable Development and Poverty Eradication*, <u>www.unep.org/greeneconomy</u>

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (2015), *Adoption of the Paris Agreement*, New York, United Nations.

United Nations Human Settlements Programme [UN-Habitat] (1996), *The Istanbul Declaration on Human Settlements*, New York, United Nations.

UN- Habitat (2008/9), State of the World cities 2008-2009 Harmonious cities, Nairobi, UN-Habitat.

UN-Habitat (2009), International Guidelines on Decentralisation and Access to Basic Services for all, Nairobi, UN-Habitat.

UN-Habitat and Global Tool Network (2010), *Count me in. Surveying for tenure security and urban land management*, Nairobi.

UN-Habitat (2012/2013), Prosperity in Cities, Nairobi, UN Habitat.

UN-Habitat and Cities Alliance (2014), *The Evolution of National Urban Policies: A Global Overview*, Nairobi, UN-Habitat.

UN-Habitat (2015), Habitat III Issue Papers: Urban Governance, New York, United Nations.

van den Berg, L., Braun, E., and van der Meer, J. (1997), 'The organising capacity of metropolitan regions', *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy*, 15:3, pp. 253-272.

Watson, V. (2015), 'Co-production and collaboration in planning - the difference,' *Planning Theory & Practice*, 15, pp. 62-76.

Westoby, P. And Dowling, G. (2013), *Theory and Practice of Dialogical Community Development: International Perspective*, London, Routledge, 2013.

Women in Informal Employment: Globalising and Organising [WIEGO] (2015), http://wiego.org/

World Bank Group (2015), *Metropolitan Governance in Brazil: Inputs for an Agenda and Strategy,* Washington, The World Bank.